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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT AND ORIGINAL (IF KNOWN) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Hebron is a two-story brick farmhouse probably constructed in the
mid to late 18th century by John Corse or his brother Michael, members
of a prominent Kent County Quaker family. The main house remains very
much as it was originally built, a solid, simple, 2 1/2-story, central
hall dwelling of Flemish and American bond brick. The interior stair
and woodwork show the same restraint as the exterior; the house is a
testimony to careful, economical craftsmanship.

The main house faces south, overlooking the flat farmlands of
northern Kent County. Once part of a working "plantation," the house
was no doubt surrounded with outbuildings. Only an old well east of the
house and a small, oak-framed barn, probably of the early 19th century,

remain of the earlier outbuildings. Some newer barns stand to the north-
west of the house.

The house is four bays wide and one room deep. The gable roof has
no dormers., It is now covered with tin and is finished with a plain box
cornice with simple crown and bed moldings. Eaves terminate in verge
boards which, like the cornice, appear to be early replacements.

The brick of the house is light, dull orange in color with random
glazed headers on all but the main facade. The brickwork is regular and
careful, but in no way ornamental. As was commonly done, the front
(south) facade is laid in Flemish bond and the sides and rear in common
(American) bond. Window openings are headed with a rowlock of king
closers, Chimneys are straight-sided, of equal width for their entire
height, That on the east side of the house projects a single brick length.
Simple caps are reconstructions.

Windows and doors are evenly spaced on the front and rear facades,
the main entrance (and formerly a rear entrance, now a window) located
in the second bay from the west. Nine-over-nine windows are used on
the first floor on both front and rear facades; nine-over-six sash windows
are used on the second floor. The attic rooms are lit by two new small
one-over-one sash windows in the gables. Additional windows are found
on the rear elevation at the level of the stair landing, here a six-over-
six sash is used, and in the basement in each window bay, front and
rear. A tiny six-over-six sash window with panes set horizontally is
situated north of the chimney on the first floor, west.

Throughout the house, plain, slightly projecting window sills are
used. The window trim is beaded with backband consisting of fillet-
large quirked bead-smaller beads. The main entrance has a recessed door,

paneled lintel and jambs and four-pane transom light. The six-panel door

itself is modern. 01l1ld, paneled shutters remain on the first floor windows.
Each has three tiers of raised and beveled panels; several old yrought-

iron shutter dogs remain in place. Second floor windows have modern,
louvered shutters and ornate, l9th-century, cast-iron shutter dogs.

see continuation sheet #1
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DESCRIPTION, continued

Early in the life of the house, a 2 1/2-story, gable-roofed
kitchen wing was constructed five feet behind the main house but
attached to it. This structure is American bond brick with random
glazed headers. It was evidently built as a kitchen with servants'
quarters above. The south facade of the wing, as will be explained
below, has been too greatly altered to establish its original fenes-
tration, but it probably had a door in the east bay and possibly a
window to the left. There is one six-over-six window centered on
each floor on the rear elevation. There may also have been a window
in the center of the south facade. The gable end has a tall, enclosed
chimney and one opening, a tiny window placed just above the second
floor to light an enclosed corner stair south of the chimney.

The amount of original detail, including floors and plaster,
remaining inside Hebron is remarkable, The stair hall contains a stair
with turned balusters, a closed string and simple turned newels with
blocks at top and bottom. Newels and balusters are pine; the molded,
one-piece handrail may be poplar. On the first floor the spandrel is
a single triangular panel. A powder room and rear window replace the
former rear entrance. As in most maSonry buildings the walls become
thinner on upper floors. At Hebron the step back occurs about 2 1/2
feet above the landing floor, forming a narrow shelf. The landing
window trim follows this set-back.

The interior wall between parlor and stair hall is brick. The
wall between the present dining room and stair hall is of vertical
beaded boards facing the dining room; the dining room chamber above
has an identical board wall facing the stair hall where it is plastered.
A board partition is also used to divide a small chamber above the

main entrance from the stair hall; this room presently houses a full
bath.

The parlor has a mantel with crosette trim of bold quirked quarter
round molding around the rectangular opening and molded shelf. There
is a corner cupboard with round-arched opening surrounded by quirked
quarter round molding and topped with a keystone. Doors have raised
molded panels. Chair rail is a replacement.

The dining room fireplace, alsoc With crossetted opening and mantel
shelf, is of the square, shallow Count Rumford type. Paneling flanks
the fireplace, rising from floor to cornice. Two raised and molded
vertical panels are used_on either side of the lireplace; that at the

ft is der and conceals a small board. A fr 1qi
é?own moY& cornice rema?ns between ggg panels. agment of original

see continuation sheet #2




~——
.

-_— K-112
Form No 10 3003
IHav 10 74)

.~
g -~

UNITED STATES DEPARITMENT OF 1 HE INTERIOR OR NPS USE ONLY
NATIONAL PARK SERVICE
RECEIVED
NATIONAL REGISTER OF HISTORIC PLACES
INVENTORY -- NOMINATION FORM IDATE ENTERED
Hebron
Kent County
CONTINUATION SHEET Maryland ITEM NUMBER 7 PAGE 2

DESCRIPTION, continued

The parlor chamber has original plaster which shows where a
chair rail was removed. The tiny fireplace (two feet high and two
feet wide) is set off-center in a larger mantel with a rectahgular
opening and molded shelf. The dining room chamber also has a tiny
fireplace, this one surrounded by a tiny crossetted molding, making it
seem a miniature of those below. There is a later, heavy, mantel shelf
above.

Yellow pine floors are used throughout the house. 1In the dining
room a newer floor has been laid over the old.

The interior of the wing is a document of the old Maryland way
of life. Above the old kitchen with its large fireplace were two
rooms; one, roughly as wide as the enclosed stair, was separated from
the stair with a board partition, The other room, also set off from
the stair by a board partition, had a tiny fireplace and hatch to the
attic which was evidently used for storage. There was no connection
between the main house and these quarters on the second floor, and
possibly no interior connection on the first floor.

In the mid~19th century, the wing was extended five feet to the
south. The roof therefore became asymmetrical and the south elevation
of the house and wing continuous. A connection was made between the
main house and wing through this extension on both floors. 1In the
1960's the extension was converted to a second floor screened porch, and
a shed-roofed porch built around the south and west sides of the first
floor. The present owners have constructed a brick, shed-roofed

kitchen at the rear of the house in the corner formed by the main house
and wing.

An old miniature in water color owned by Dr, H. Chandlee Forman
on exhibit at the Talbot County Historical Society shows the wing
of the house as a low two stories with a porch across the first floor.
There is a one~bay, gable-roofed entrance porch on the main block
of which evidence can be seen today on the south facade. The early
19th~century barn to the east of the house also shows up in the sketch
which was painted by Joseph Turner (1790-1850) at an undetermined date.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Hebron is a good representation of Eastern Shore architecture in
the period in which it was built, and of the simplicity and soundness
of the rural buildings built by prosperous Quaker farmers. The interior
is remarkably intact, retaining most original features, in particular
the vertical beaded board partitions which often have been covered with
plaster by the 20th century, and the large corner cupboard in the parlor.
The Count Rumford fireplace in the dining room is of interest; a flue
that is curved rather than straight makes this type very efficient, and
often when chimneys with this type of flue are rebuilt, this design is
lost, as in the parlor at Hebron.

James Corse, a Quaker and early member of the Cecil Meeting, pur-
chased 150 acres of Hebron's farm from Thomas and John Hebron in 1713,
According to one source it was James Corse who built the main section
of the present house (but see below).l 1In 1717 he became "Overseer of
Cecil Meeting" along with George Duncan, another influential early
Quaker settler,2 James Corse died in 1720, and according to his will his
property was equally divided between his sons, John and Michael.3

" In 1733 Michael and John ageeed to exchange the properties they
had received, Michael giving to John the land on the north side of the
division line in exchange for his property on the south side and a
piece of land called Corse's Meadow., Mention is made in this transaction
of "my now dwelling plantation."4 This probably referred to the prede-

cessor of the present house which architecturally appears to date from
the 1760's or 70's,

During the Revolutionary War John Corse had some of his personal
property (mention is made of beds, cows and blankets) confiscated by the
sheriff for his refusal to fight or to hire a substitute.® In addition,
in 1774, John Corse freed two slaves in accordance with a directive on
manumission issued by the 1773 Yearly Meeting.® 1In 1780 he was a member
of the School Committee which, following the directions of the 1779

Yearly Meeting, looked into the establishment of a school, but nothing
came of it.’

By 1783 John Corse was listed as the owner of Hepburn's Farm (169
acres), as well as two other properties totalling forty-five additional

acres., At this time his property was valued at 5309 and was assessed
for £5.10s,34.8

see continuation sheet #3
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SIGNIFICANCE, continued

Cassandra Rigby Corse, wife of John Corse, probable builder of
Hebron, was a well-known traveling Friend among the Quakers of Kent
County. It is noted in 1791 that she paid "'a Religious visit to
Such of the black People as have Been Set free by Friends.'"9 she
served on many local committees and helped start Westtown School.lO0
Her death in 1801 was much grieved by the community.

Their daughter, Sarah Corse, married Joseph Turner on December 16,
1789. He also was a Quaker, the son of Isaac and Hannah Bartlett
Turner of Talbot County. As a boy, he and his family had moved from
Easton, Maryland to Duck Creek, Delaware.!! In 1791 Joseph Turner, as
a member of the "Negro Committee," asked to "Extend Care in Redressing
Said Peoples Agreivances, and Labour with those amongst us who hold
Slaves under any Pretenses Whatsoever."l2 He was on the committee to
disband Sassafras Meeting. He and Michael Megear sold the meeting
house to Robert Moody in 1804. Two years earlier in 1802 he had
bought Hebron Farm from his father-in-law for B596.3s.8d.13

Like his mother-in-law Joseph Turner was a traveling Friend, hav-
ing attended, between 1802 and 1835, the Baltimore Yearly Meeting five
times, the New York Yearly Meeting in 1837, the Southern Quarterly
Meeting in 1819 and the Nottingham Quarterly Meeting in 1825,14
A devout Quaker, Joseph Turner was a regular attendant of the Cecil
Monthly Meeting fore more than forty years. By this time the Quaker
movement was entering into a period of decline. As early as 1813
there began to be problems of attendance and discipline. 1In fact it
is noted that James Rigby Corse, Sarah's brother, "gave way 'to
passion so far as to enter the premises of Joseph Turner and beat
his son Isaac Turner,'"l5 presumably for not attending regularly the
Quaker meeting.

In 1845 after Joseph Turner's death, the Philadelphia Meeting
published a memorial in his honor, praising his example and devotion.
His son, Joseph Turner, jr. (1790~1850), while never the owner of
Hebron himself, painted a small watercolor of the plantation which
shows the house much as it looks today, even including a small barn
still in existence. This painting is presently on display in the
headquarters of the Talbot Historical Society and is owned by Dr.
Henry Chandlee Forman.

The Turners were a prominent family in Kent County in the 19th
century. Joseph Turner's grandson, Richard Townsend Turner, founded

see continuation sheet #4
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SIGNIFICANCE, continued

the town of Betterton three miles north of Hebron. His great-grandson,
Charles Yardley Turner, was considered one of America's three most
noted mural painters and was president and founder of the Art Students’
League of New York, vice-president of the National Academy of Design
and director of the Maryland Institute, College of Art at Baltimore.l7

Most of Joseph Turner's descendants had their permanent homes
in Baltimore, but returned regularly to Hebron during the summer
months where they enjoyed themselves, as their correspondence shows .18

THenry Chandlee Forman, The Turner Family of Hebron and
Betterton, Maryland (Waverly Press, Inc., 1933).

2Kenneth Carroll, Quakerism on the Eastern Shore (Baltimore:
The Maryland Historical Society, 1970), p. 1l22.

IKent County Will 1/205, Kent County Courthouse.
4Kent County Deed 4/368, Kent County Courthouse.
5Carroll, p. 67.
6Carroll, p. 139.
Tcarroll, p. 154.

8Tax Assessment of 1783, Fourth District, Kent County,
p. 3, Hall of Records.

9Carroll, p. 142.
1l0carroll, p. 182.
llrorman.
12carroll, p. 141.
l13kent County Deed TW 2/126, Kent County Courthouse.
l4carroll, p. 182.

see continuation sheet #5
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SIGNIFICANCE, continued
15carroll, p. 183.
l6Forman.
17Forman.

18Forman.
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Title Searech or H ebron
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Oct. 30, 1973 EHP 5l/ 672
Allaire C, du Pont to Frederick N, & Nancy G, "Wyman
* § acres more or less and 20' right of way from Md., 292

24
12-15-72 EHP 4,9/241
Waldo Hagelgans to Allaire C, duPont

3e
L-24-71
Harry €. Hendrickson & Ruth J. H endrickson & Samuel D, &
Margaret N, *endrickson to Waldo Hagelgans ( part of lands
received from P.P. Heck, attorney.

.
9-11-59 WHG 61/ sLé
Samuel & Margaret Hendrickson to Preston P, Heck, Attormey
Se
9-11-59 WHG 61/5h9
Preston P, Heck, Trustee to Samuel & Margaret Hendrickson;
refers to a survey by H.9. Gresham, county surveyor ( 9-28-18836)
No plat found and no liber reference,
6.
12-15-58 wWHG 58/ S8
H arry & Ruth Hendrickson to Preston P, Heck
Te
12-15-58 WHG 58/ 551
- Preston P, Heck, trustee to Harry C, & Ruth Hendrickson
11-4-26 RRA 8/ 174

Robert A, & Mary R, B owers to Harry O. & Jessie C, Hendrickson
for %10,500,00

9.
10-1-1886 Sa 8/ 208
31!?30@.@9 Papnep, exec, to Robert A, Bowers
311,300.00 for 120 acres,
10

7-21-1880 will JCS 1/ 84
Anne E, Bowers will states "remainder of my farm near Still Pond
Village to be o 1d at executor's discretion”. Rid ard Turner was
the executor.
11.
10-17=-1872 Will =C 1/296
777 77 “John L. Bowers to Ammne E, Bowers " T Too ot oo e s
12,
10-7-18%6 J7G /132
John M % Mary L. Bartlett to John 1. Bowers for °7000.70 c.m., all
that farm plantation called ™Yepbron & Redmonds or Redmen's Suvnply";
137 acres,
1360 518 TFG 1 [556
T ggseph Turner the younger to Hohn & Mary Bartlett of Baltimore
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(paid 55000.00 c.m., to settle a mortgage debt, The farm is described
_as "Yebrons, Hebron, Redmans, or Redmon's Supoly" containing 137 acres,

e
1-13-183} will JFB 1/ 86
Joseph Turner Sr., left to his wife Sarah, his farm, After her
death it was to go to their son, Joseph, for his life, and then
to their grandson Joseph, called the younger.

2-15-1802 ™ 2/126
John Corse to his son-in-law Joseph Turner for & 596 3s 8p c.m,
Hebron Farm

11-18-1762 will L /172
John Corse, yeoman, to son John ZJorse
"my dwelling house % plantation with all improvements and

land thereon.,..'

15

16

17.
12-14-1733 L,/368
Michael Corse to John Corse - all land left by their father
James on the North side of the divisién line, in exchange
for the land on the south side. The term " dwelling plantation"
was included in this transaction,

18,
11-12-1720 2/726
*111iam Corse to his youhcer brothers John andMichael Corse,
150 acres to be equally divided as specified in their father?s

will

1713 111 1/ 205
James Corse to William Corse 3 left 150 acres of H ebron
Farm to be transferred to his sons John and Michael and
equally divided between them,

20,
6-3=1713 2/257
Thomas Hebron (joyner) and Catharine H ebron to James Corse
75 acres of Hebron's farm for l1,000 pounds of tobacco

~ 19,

21,
3-3-1712 2/236
John H ebron (baker of Philadelphia) to James Corse (weaver)
75 acres of Hebron's Farm for 2,600 pounds of tobacco.
22.

1709 "11ls 1706-1709/134
. James H ebron left 50 acres of Hepbron Farm to his daughter,

T11izabeth Noble and the remainder to his son Thomas and his
cousin John,

Only record of James Hepborn in Kent County is a patent for 100 acres
in 1683 for a tract called ™ Luck" which is defined as being in Cecil
County, south of the Sassafrass River, near the head of Fishing Creek.
I have been unable to trace this any farther,
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